IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 81,278

PALM BEACH COUNTY,

Petitioner,

v.

WILLIAM WRIGHT, RICHARD ELLIOTT, THOMAS J. KAMIDE, HERBERT G. ELLIOTT, and EDWARD L. CONNOP, et al.

Respondents.

PETITIONER, PALM BEACH COUNTY'S

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT P. BANKS
Assistant County Attorney
Florida Bar No. 0557961
Palm Beach County Attorney's Office
301 N. Olive Ave., Suite 601
West Palm Beach, FL 33401-4791
(407) 355-2225

ROBERT H. FREILICH, ESQ. Missouri Bar No. 22314 Freilich, Leitner & Carlisle 4600 Madison, Suite 1000 Kansas City, MO 64112-3012 (816) 561-4414

STATEMENT OF CASE

This appeal involves six consolidated cases. The six complaints allege that the adoption of Palm Beach County's Comprehensive Plan containing a Thoroughfare Map, pursuant to Section 163.3177(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (1991), results in a facial taking of Respondent's properties. (Exhibits A-1 - A-6). The six cases were consolidated for purposes of considering cross-motions for summary judgment on the facial constitutionality of the Plan's Thoroughfare Map. (Exhibit C).

After a hearing on the cross-motions for summary judgment, the Circuit Court granted Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, declared the Thoroughfare Map facially unconstitutional in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Art. X §6 of the Florida Constitution for failing to substantially advance a legitimate state interest and denied Defendant Palm Beach County's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (Exhibits O and P). An appeal was timely taken to the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal, with three separate opinions, (Stone, J., dissenting) affirmed the invalidation of the Palm Beach County Thoroughfare Map. However, because this case involves "a question of great public importance," all three members of the panel certified the following question to this court:

IS A COUNTY THOROUGHFARE MAP DESIGNATING CORRIDORS FOR FUTURE ROADWAYS, AND WHICH FORBIDS LAND USE ACTIVITY THAT WOULD IMPEDE FUTURE CONSTRUCTION OF A ROADWAY, ADOPTED INCIDENT TO A COMPREHENSIVE COUNTY LAND USE PLAN ENACTED UNDER THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT

COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION ACT, FACIALLY UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 563 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1990)?

Palm Beach County filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this court. This court in an order dated February 17, 1993, postponed its decision on jurisdiction and ordered the filing of briefs.

Similar issues are presently before this Court in the following cases: Department of Transportation v. Weisenfeld, 18 FLW D803 (Fla. 5th DCA, March 26, 1993); Department of Transportation v. DiGerlando, 609 So.2d 165 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (S.Ct. Case No. 81,046); and Tampa-Hillsborough County Expressway Authority v. A.G.W.S. Corp., 608 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2nd DCA Sept. 23, 1992) (S.Ct. Case No. 80,656).1

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Thoroughfare Map is a portion of the Traffic Circulation Element of the Palm Beach County Comprehensive Plan. The County is mandated by the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, §163.3177(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (1991), to prepare a Comprehensive Plan, which must include a Traffic Circulation Element "consisting of the types, locations and extent of existing and proposed major thoroughfares and transportation

The First District Court of Appeal has also certified a related legal issue to this court. <u>See State Department of Transportation v. Miccosukee Village Shopping Center</u>, 18 FLW D827 (Fla. 1st DCA March 22, 1993) (motion for rehearing pending).

routes. . . . " Fla. Admin. Code Rule 9J-5.007(4) requires that the Traffic Circulation Element contain a future traffic circulation map including collector roads, arterial roads, and limited access facilities. Palm Beach County complied with these statutory mandates by adoption of a Thoroughfare Right-of-Way Protection Map as a part of the Traffic Circulation Element of the Plan.

The Map outlines the general location and proposed width of all arterial roads in the County. The roadway corridors located on the Map vary in width from 80 to 240 feet. (Exhibit G-6). The Map does not indicate precise locations of roadways and includes a note stating: "Proposed facilities indicate corridor needs only. Locations to be determined by specific corridor and design The Map was not recorded. Instead, the Map is a part studies." of an overall comprehensive planning process, consisting of materials that are "appropriate to the prescription of principles, quidelines and standards for the orderly and balanced future economic, social, physical, environmental, and fiscal development" of Palm Beach County. §163.3177(1), Fla. Stat. The County's Comprehensive Plan, including the Map, is implemented through a comprehensive system of land development regulations including zoning, rezoning, subdivision, building construction, regulations, and other development approval regulations which are applied on a case-by-case basis to the future development of land in response to each development proposal. §163.3202, Fla. Stat. The Map was first adopted as part of the 1980 Comprehensive Plan of Palm Beach County. (Exhibit G-4).

The Comprehensive Plan provides that the Map shall "apply to land development activities within the unincorporated areas of Palm Beach County" and states that future development "shall be consistent with and provide for transportation right-of-ways shown on the Thoroughfare Right-of-Way Protection Map." (Exhibit G-4 1980 Comprehensive Plan at 41). The Plan describes the Thoroughfare Map as a "long range planning tool which identifies potential highway corridors for facilities which may be necessary beyond the needs identified for the year 2000...." Id. at 42.

The Land Use Element of the Comprehensive Plan provides, that when applied to a future development proposal, "no land use or activity may be permitted within any roadway designated on the County's Thoroughfare Right-of-Way Protection Map that would impede future construction of the roadway." (Exhibit G-5 at 48-LU). Neither the Thoroughfare Map nor the County's land development regulations, if applied to a future development proposal, limit or modify the rights of any person to complete any development that has been authorized as a development of regional impact or the rights of any person who has a vested right to develop. The Comprehensive Plan requires §163.3167(8), Fla. Stat. dedication of future right-of-way to future development proposals "unless dedication shall be contrary to law and constitute a (Exhibit G-5 at 14-TC). Ordinance 89-17 adopting the 1989 Comprehensive Plan likewise requires that the Comprehensive Plan be interpreted in a manner that does not result in a taking or abrogation of vested rights:

Nothing in this Comprehensive Plan, or in the land use regulations adopted consistent with its requirements, shall be construed or applied so as to result in an unconstitutional temporary or permanent taking of private property or the abrogation of existing vested rights.

(Exhibit G-5 Ordinance 89-17 §2(C)).

The Traffic Circulation Element provides general criteria for the location of rights-of-way and required the County Engineer to conduct future alignment studies. Prior to 1991, the Plan contemplated that the Board of County Commissioners would adopt precise alignments after public hearings on each alignment. The alignment finally approved after each hearing was required to be recorded in the public records. (Exhibit G-5 at 15-TC). However, the criteria for determining right-of-way alignments was modified in Ordinance No. 91-31 deleting provisions requiring preparation and recording of alignment studies. Language was added to the Plan in 1991 requiring that transportation corridors through vacant land "be compatible with the proposed development and that the exact alignment shall have flexibility." (Exhibit G-10 - Exhibit C to Ordinance No. 91-31 at 29-30).

The six Plaintiffs in these cases own property fronting and on the north side of Southern Boulevard, a 220' right-of-way corridor shown on the Thoroughfare Map. (Exhibits A-1 - A-6). As Southern Boulevard is bounded on the south by the L-51 Canal, the future alignment of right-of-way corridor may be measured northward from the existing south property line of Southern Boulevard; however, no alignment study has been performed and no alignment proposal has been established. No map of reservation has been recorded. No

determination has been made as to whether the dedication of rightof-way, even if to the full extent of the 220', would be a valid
exaction or, on the other hand, would as applied, constitute a
taking. Nor has there been any determination at zoning,
subdivision or development approval as to whether:

- (a) the right-of-way dedication would be reduced to measure only the proportional need for roadway generated by the specific developments;
- (b) any variance might be granted;
- (c) clustering or increasing density on the remaining portion of the land will be granted taking into account the totality of the tract;
- (d) rezoning will be granted for alternative and higher yielding uses or densities;
- (e) additional credits for right-of-way dedication against required impact fees or environmental mitigation payments would be authorized.

Plaintiffs challenge both the general constitutionality of that part of the statutory scheme requiring thoroughfare maps and raise as applied taking claims based on the thoroughfare map. The as applied takings claims have not yet been considered by the trial court. The record is silent as to whether or not Plaintiffs have exhausted any administrative remedies or had the Plan provision applied to their properties so as to present ripe, as applied cases.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT I

Given the limited nature of a facial attack on ordinances and the deference required to such ordinances by the separation of powers doctrine, the only question which should be addressed in these consolidated cases is whether the statutory scheme requiring thoroughfare maps is "clearly arbitrary and unreasonable, having no substantial relation to the public health, safety, morals, or general welfare." <u>Euclid v. Ambler Realty Co.</u>, 272 U.S. 365, 395; 47 S.Ct. 114, 71 L.Ed 114 (1926) (citations omitted). If any legitimate state interest is advanced, further challenges must await final application of the regulations so that a full factual record is available. <u>Town of Indialantic v. McNulty</u>, 400 So. 2d 1227, 1233 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

The Comprehensive Plan's Thoroughfare Map advances multiple legitimate state interests in transportation planning. It also serves a valid public purpose as a mechanism to encourage rational development, to promote long-range planning, and to put property owners on notice of the potential location of roads well in advance of development. In an analogous situation, it has long been established in Florida that setbacks to protect the right-of-way of roadways are a valid exercise in police power. City of Miami v. Romer, 58 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1952) (Romer I); 73 So. 2d 285 (Fla. 1954) (Romer II); and see also, Gorieb v. Fox, 274 U.S. 603, 475 S.Ct. 675, 71 L.Ed. 1228 (1926) (fixed setback valid, especially where potential for exceptions existed). The language in the

Comprehensive Plan requiring protection of future roadway corridors is a valid exercise of the police power consistent with the holding in <u>Romer</u>. The planning for and protection of future transportation corridors serves a public purpose of promoting rational development and discouraging future congestion and overcrowding. While the application of the language in the Comprehensive Plan regarding the Thoroughfare Map may raise constitutional issues in specific cases, the Map and the language implementing the Map in the Comprehensive Plan are clearly a valid exercise of the police power, especially where they recognize the potential for exceptions in specific cases.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT II

The Thoroughfare Map is distinguishable from the Section 337.241, Fla. Stat. (1987) recorded map of reservation discussed in Joint Ventures v. Department of Transportation, 563 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1990). Section 337.241 created a process designed to halt any construction of improvements on right-of-way after a map of reservation for specific surveyed property was recorded. The map of reservation statute was found by the court to serve a primary purpose of attempting to reduce future acquisition costs of roads. By contrast, the Thoroughfare Map is a long-range planning tool tied to a Comprehensive Plan that outlines general roadway corridors and does not on its face delineate the exact routes of future roadways. The map of reservation statute at issue in Joint Ventures prohibited future development within a recorded map of

reservation. The Comprehensive Plan requires that development be consistent with the Thoroughfare Map but provides for flexibility in determining the routes of future roads and allows construction in the future right-of-way that will not impede future development of roads. As a long-range planning tool, the Thoroughfare Map of the Palm Beach County Comprehensive Plan is legally and factually distinguishable from the map of reservation statute struck down by the Florida Supreme Court in Joint Ventures.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT III

Just compensation cannot be determined unless a final and authoritative determination of development has been made by a public body and the case is ripe for review. To establish a compensable taking, evidence must be introduced to the court "to sustain a factual determination that [the property owner] suffered a substantial deprivation of the use of his property." Department of Transportation v. Weisenfeld, 18 FLW D803, 804 (Fla. 5th DCA March 26, 1993). In the case of a facial challenge, no evidence of injury is required; therefore, it is clear that the United States Supreme Court does not contemplate compensation based on the facial invalidation of a regulation. Yee v. City of Escondido, ____ U.S.____, 112 S.Ct. 1522, 118 L.Ed.2d 153 (1992).

ARGUMENT I

I. THE FACIAL CHALLENGE TO THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN THOROUGHFARE REQUIREMENT MUST FAIL BECAUSE THE PLAN MEETS THE RATIONAL AND FAIRLY DEBATABLE STANDARD AND IS SUPPORTED BY ABUNDANT PUBLIC POLICIES.

A. Standard of Review

Whether the County's Comprehensive Plan, Circulation Element, and Thoroughfare Map constitute a facial taking presents a question of law which this Court reviews de novo. Jacobellis v. State of Ohio, 378 U.S. 184, 189, 84 S.Ct. 1676, 12 L.Ed.2d 793 (1964) (where constitutional question is involved, the appellate court is obliged to "apply the applicable rules of law upon the basis of an independent review of the facts of each case.") Glisson v. Alachua County, 558 So. 2d 1030 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 570 So. 2d 1304 (Fla. 1990) (facial taking). See also Connick v. Myers, 461 U.S. 138, 150 n.10, 103 S.Ct. 1684, 75 L.Ed.2d (1983) (the must make independent 708 court "an constitutional judgment on the facts"). A reviewing court is not bound by and need not give deference to the lower court's determinations of a legal question. Mayer v. Dade County, 82 So. 2d 513, 517 (Fla. 1955). The application of law to facts is purely a matter of law to be reviewed and determined de novo by this Connick, 461 U.S. at 150. Especially where zoning Court. decisions are involved, this Court must make an independent examination of the taking issue without according any special deference to the same review conducted by lower courts. Mayer, 82 So. 2d at 517.

B. <u>Separation of Powers and Burden of Proof</u>

The County's Comprehensive Plan, Traffic Circulation Element, and Thoroughfare Map are presumed valid and reasonable. Grant v. Seminole County, 817 F.2d 731 (11th Cir. 1987). See also Naples Airport Authority v. Collier Development Corporation, 513 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987). To overcome this presumption, Plaintiffs bear the extraordinary burden of showing that the County's adoption of the Thoroughfare Map as part of the Comprehensive Plan was such a deliberate, arbitrary and capricious abuse of power as to be irrational. See also Town of Bay Harbor Islands v. Driggs, 522 So. 2d 912, 914 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); Renard v. Dade County, 261 So. 2d 832, 837 (Fla. 1972). In other words, a "rational basis" test is applied. The County has broad discretion in legislative matters, and so long as the County's decision is even debatable, there is a rational basis for what it does and the courts should not interfere. State ex rel. Harkow v. McCarthy, 171 So. 314, 316 (Fla. 1936). See also Norwood-Norland Homeowners Association v. Dade County, 511 So. 2d 1009, 1012 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (court should sustain local authority's zoning decision if decision is fairly debatable, scope of review recognizes zoning authority's power to impose reasonable regulations in furtherance of health, safety and community welfare).

C. The Nature of Facial Challenges to Comprehensive Plans

Each of the six Plaintiffs in this case have alleged that
the Thoroughfare Map, contained within its Comprehensive Plan and

not as a separate legal document, on its face violates the Florida and United States Constitutions in that it deprives Plaintiffs of property without due process and without payment of just compensation. They allege that thoroughfare maps even if contained only in a flexible comprehensive plan фo not substantially advance a legitimate state interest no matter how rationally they are applied. Accordingly, this case provides no occasion to consider how the statutory scheme for comprehensive planning or its subsequent implementation, or the thoroughfare maps authorized by those statutes, have been applied to the individual Plaintiffs' property.

At least since the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Euclid v.</u>

<u>Ambler Realty Company</u>, 272 U.S. 365, 397, 47 S.Ct. 114, 71 L.Ed.

303 (1926), such facial challenges to the general constitutionality of laws or ordinances have been extremely limited:

Under these circumstances, therefore, it is enough for us to determine, as we do, that the ordinance in its general scope and dominant features, so far as its provisions are here involved, is a valid exercise of authority, leaving other provisions to be dealt with as cases arise directly involving them.

And this is in accordance with the traditional policy of this Court. In the realm of constitutional law, especially, this Court has perceived the embarrassment which is likely to result from an attempt to formulate rules or decide questions beyond the necessities of the immediate issue. It has preferred to follow the method of a gradual approach to the by a systematically general application and extension of constitutional principles to particular cases as they arise, rather than by out of hand attempts to establish general rules to which future cases must be fitted.

In upholding Euclid's comprehensive zoning plan, Justice Sutherland described the nature of an inquiry into the facial constitutionality of an ordinance, namely whether or not the provisions of an ordinance "are clearly arbitrary and unreasonable, having no substantial relation to the public health, safety, morals, or general welfare." Id. at 395 (citations omitted). Justice Sutherland differentiated such an inquiry from situations where the provisions of an ordinance "come to be concretely applied to particular premises . . . or to particular conditions, or to be considered in connection with specific complaints " Id. In situations where the actual application of a law is challenged, the Court observed that it could scrutinize the provisions of that law much more closely to ascertain whether or not they withstand the test of constitutionality. Id.

The <u>Euclid</u> approach to facial challenges is to leave questions of specific unconstitutionality, and economic injury to particular property, for later inquiry as facts develop and evidence is proffered with respect to the application of the regulation to a particular parcel. <u>Compare Nectow v. City of Cambridge</u>, 277 U.S. 183, 188, 48 S.Ct. 447, 72 L.Ed. 842 (1928) (the impact of the regulation on Nectow's property was fully realized; therefore, that impact could be balanced against the public's need for inclusion of her property in a residential district).

Only two, discrete governmental activities have been held to result in <u>per se</u> as applied takings. First, the permanent <u>physical</u> occupation of private property is a <u>per se</u> taking under <u>Loretto v.</u>

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