FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 17 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 81,278

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

PALM BEACH COUNTY,

Petitioner,

v.

WILLIAM WRIGHT, RICHARD ELLIOTT, THOMAS J. KAMIDE, HERBERT G. ELLIOTT, and EDWARD L. CONNOP, et al.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT(S) ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

William P. Doney, Esquire VANCE & DONEY, P.A. 1615 Forum Place Suite 200, Barristers Building West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 684-5544

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Summary of Argument I

The Palm Beach County Thoroughfare Map fails to substantially advance a legitimate state interest and is facially unconstitutional as a taking of property without payment of just compensation. The Thoroughfare Map defines certain protected transportation corridors along specified roadways throughout Palm Beach County. The Map is designed to protect the identified corridors from encroachment by other land development activities. All development is required to be consistent with and provide for the right-of-way shown on the Thoroughfare Map. No land development activity is permitted within any roadway designated on the Thoroughfare Map which would impede future construction of the roadway.

Map is in reality an exercise of eminent domain and is not a valid exercise of the County's police power. As found by this Court in Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 563 So.2d 622 (Fla. 1990), in declaring the map of reservation scheme of \$337.241, Fla. Stat., to be unconstitutional, Petitioner's Thoroughfare Map provisions are a "thinly veiled attempt to acquire private property by avoiding legislatively mandated procedures and substantive protections of Chapters 73 and 74, Fla. Stat." There is no valid distinction between "freezing" property prior to eminent domain proceedings and deliberately attempting to depress land values prior to acquisition. Since the Thoroughfare Map fails to substantially advance a legitimate state interest and is a

taking, no inquiry is necessary at this time as to the economic impact of the Thoroughfare Map on particular properties. The matter of economic impact is properly an issue of damages in this inverse condemnation proceeding.

While Petitioner may legitimately plan for growth in Palm Beach County, it may not deliberately prohibit the lawful use of private property under a defacto use of the power of eminent domain before commencement of condemnation proceedings without the payment of just compensation.

Summary of Argument II

The Thoroughfare Map is factually and legally indistinguishable from the map of reservation provisions of §337.241, Fla. Stat found unconstitutional in Jt. Ventures, supra. This was the specific finding of both the Trial Court and Fourth District Court of Appeal. The map of reservation provisions of §337.241, Fla. Stat. could extend for a maximum of ten (10) years while the Thoroughfare Map has been in effect since 1980 and extends indefinitely with no specified expiration date. 337.241, Fla. Stat. permitted minor renovations of existing nonresidential structures and no restrictions on renovation of existing residences. The Thoroughfare Map prohibits all land development activity within the corridor which would impede future construction of the roadway. Section 337.241, Fla. Stat., contained a variance and administrative hearing procedure whereby an affected landowner could challenge the reasonableness of the map or show that its effect was to deny a substnatial portion of the beneficial use of the property. The Thoroughfare Map and the Palm

Beach County comprehensive plan contain no variance or administrative hearing procedure.

The Thoroughfare Map is far more than a planning tool and "Agreements" attached to the complaints in Wright (Exhibit A-2) and Ramos (Exhibit A-5) demonstrate that Petitioner's true purpose in enacting the Thoroughfare Map is to reduce the cost of acquiring right-of-way in future eminent domain proceedings. Although Petitioner contends that the Thoroughfare Map is merely a "generalized roadway map," the text of the 1980 and 1989 comprehensive plans reveal otherwise as do zoning code definitions of "base building line" and "setback" which utilize the precise future right-of-way line established by the Thoroughfare Map in restricting present and future development.

Summary of Argument III

Since the Thoroughfare Map fails to advance a substantial legitimate state interest, under the test for a taking established in <u>Jt. Ventures</u>, supra and <u>Agins v. Tiburon</u>, 447 U.S. 255, 100 S.Ct. 2138, 65 L.Ed.2d 106 (1980), the economic effect or impact of the Thoroughfare Map on Respondents' properties are irrelevant. Neither is "ripeness" a defense to a facial challenge to the Thoroughfare Map. In the event the Thoroughfare Map is declared invalid as an unlawful taking, the payment of just compensation is constitutionally mandated.

ARGUMENT I

Part One

THE CORRECT STANDARD OF REVIEW IN THIS CAUSE IS WHETHER PETITIONER'S THOROUGHFARE MAP SUBSTANTIALLY ADVANCES A LEGITIMATE STATE INTEREST.

Petitioner commences its brief by addressing the issues of "Standard of Review, Separation of Powers and Burden of Proof." 10, 11). Since Respondents are challenging constitutionality of the Thoroughfare Map, there is no doubt that Respondents have the burden of proof in this cause. Petitioner relies on a series of general Florida zoning decisions cited on page 11 of its brief to assert that the standard of review in this cause is a "fairly debatable" standard. This line of zoning cases is totally irrelevant in this cause and the issue in this matter is whether Petitioner's Thoroughfare Map substantially advances a legitimate state interest. See Jt. Ventures, supra, and Agin's, supra. As will be discussed in detail below, in order to be a proper subject of the County's police power, the Thoroughfare Map must substantially advance a legitimate state interest. will also be shown below, since the Thoroughfare Map fails to substantially advance a legitimate state interest, the Thoroughfare Map is an unconstitutional taking of property in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Petitioner's further reliance on such cases as Village of Euclid v. Ambler Realty Co., 272 U.S. 365, 47 S.Ct. 114, L.Ed. 576 (1926) and Nectow v. City of Cambridge, 277 U.S. 183, 48 S.Ct. 447, 72 L.Ed. 842 (1928), is equally misplaced in that these cases concluded that the ordinances in question were in fact a valid exercise of authority or police power, and only then it became necessary to consider the impact of the subject ordinances as applied to a particular property.

ARGUMENT I

Part Two

PETITIONER'S THOROUGHFARE MAP FAILS TO ADVANCE A LEGITIMATE STATE INTEREST, IMPOSES A DE FACTO DEVELOPMENT MORATORIUM OF INDEFINITE DURATION ON A PORTION OF RESPONDENTS' PROPERTIES, AND CONSTITUTES A TAKING WITHOUT PAYMENT OF JUST OR FULL COMPENSATION.

Petitioner, and the amicus curiae briefs filed in support of Petitioner's position, uniformly approach this lawsuit on the basis that it is a legitimate exercise of Palm Beach County's police power to plan for future growth and development. Petitioner's Thoroughfare Map is then portrayed as merely another growth management regulation or planning tool which may in fact result in a taking as applied to a particular individual's property, but which is facially constitutional because Petitioner is mandated by the provisions of \$163.3177, Fla. Stat., to plan for future growth in Palm Beach County. Petitioner then launches into a discussion of numerous state and federal regulatory taking cases in support of its contentions.

However, it must be stressed at the outset that this is not a typical regulatory taking case and such an analysis misses the entire thrust of this Court's opinion in <u>Jt. Ventures</u>, supra, in which this Court found the statutory map of reservation provisions of §337.241, Fla. Stat., to be unconstitutional because the development moratorium or freeze imposed thereby was in reality an exercise in eminent domain and not a valid exercise of the

police power. Further, this is not a typical regulatory taking case because such cases usually assume the valid exercise of police power and the issue then becomes the economic effect of the regulation. See e.g. Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Council, _ U.S. _____, 112 S.Ct. 2886, 120 L.Ed.2d 798 (1992). However, as this Court noted in Jt. Ventures, supra, at page 625, there is a distinction between the state's police power (which might lead to a regulatory taking claim) and the power of eminent domain. Eminent domain involves the taking of property because of its need for public use while the police power involves the regulation of property to prevent its use in a manner that is detrimental to the public interest. In reviewing the map of reservation provisions of \$337.241, Fla. Stat., this Court concluded in Jt. Ventures, supra, that the State's "thinly veiled attempt to acquire land by avoiding the legislatively mandated procedures and substantive protections of Chapters 73 and 74" is unconstitutional because a development moratorium, in anticipation of the ultimate acquisition of lands by government, in reality an exercise of the power of eminent domain and not of the police power. This, likewise, is precisely the constitutional defect or flaw in Petitioner's Thoroughfare Map, i.e., it freezes for an indefinite period of time Appellee's ability to develop a portion of their privately owned property in anticipation of ultimate eminent domain proceedings contemplated at such time Petitioner deems it necessary to widen a protected roadway corridor. This Court expounded upon the eminent domain/police power dichotomy in Jt. Ventures, supra, by citing San Antonio River Authority v. Garrett Brothers, 528 SW 2d, 266 (Tex.

Ct. App., 1975), as follows:

"In exercising the police power, governmental agency is acting as an arbiter of disputes among groups and individuals for the purpose of resolving conflicts among competing interests. This is the role in government acts when it. adopts zoning ordinances, enacts health measures, adopts building codes, abates nuisances, or adopts a host of other regulations . . . But where the purpose of the governmental action is the prevention of development of land that would increase the cost of a planned future acquisition of such land by government, the situation is patently different. government acts in this context, it can no longer pretend to be acting as a neutral arbiter. It is no longer an impartial weigher of the merits of competing interest among its Instead, it has placed a heavy citizens. governmental thumb on the scales to insure that in the forthcoming dispute between it and one, or more, of its citizens, the scales will tip in its own favor . . . government, as a prospective purchaser of land, to give itself such an advantage is clearly inconsistent with the doctrine that the cost of community benefits should be distributed impartially among members of the community.

Just as DOT attempted to freeze development by imposition of its Maps of Reservation pursuant to \$337.241, Fla. Stat., Petitioner, Palm Beach County, has prohibited development within the areas shown within its Thoroughfare Map. Petitioner is not regulating the use of property to prevent its use in a manner that is detrimental to the public interest. Neither is Petitioner acting as an arbiter of disputes among groups and individuals for the purpose of resolving conflicts among competing interests. Rather, Petitioner, through adoption and implementation of its Thoroughfare Map, has prohibited development on private property for its own benefit, i.e., to reduce its costs of acquisition in

the event that at some future, unspecified date, it desires to proceed to acquire the property by eminent domain.

As this Court noted in <u>Graham v. Estuary Properties</u>, 399 So.2d 1374 (Fla. 1981), one of the considerations in determining whether a taking has occurred is whether the regulation confers a public benefit or prevents a public harm. It was noted that "if the regulation creates a public benefit it is more likely an exercise of eminent domain." <u>Graham</u>, supra, at page 1381. In the case at bar, the benefit of the Thoroughfare Map is purely public and is applicable to a purely governmental function, i.e., the ultimate construction or widening of roadways. However, the burden of the Thoroughfare Map is purely private and borne by those who are unfortunate enough to own property within a protected corridor.

Further, Petitioner has quite simply singled out those who own property along protected corridors, such as Respondents, to bear the burden of future growth in Palm Beach County rather than distributing the burden impartially among members of the community. One of the principal purposes of the Fifth Amendment Takings Clause is to bar government from forcing some people alone to bear public burdens which, in all fairness and justice, should be borne by the public as a whole. Nollan v. California Coastal Commission, 483 U.S. 825, 107 S.Ct. 3141, 97 L.Ed.2d 677 (1987) at page 3147, fn 4. Just as the United States Supreme Court noted in discussing the applicable California legislation in Nollan, Supra, at page 3150, Petitioner's Thoroughfare Map may well be a good idea, but that does not establish that Respondents (and other owners of property along protected corridors) alone should be compelled to bear the

burden of future road needs in Palm Beach County. Petitioner is free to pursue this program of thoroughfare protection if it wishes, by using its power of eminent domain for this "public purpose," but if it wants to reserve Respondents' properties for future road construction, Petitioner must constitutionally pay for it. As this Court stated in Jt. Ventures, supra, at page 626: "we perceive no valid distinction between 'freezing' property in this fashion and deliberately attempting to depress land values in anticipation of eminent domain proceedings." (Citations omitted). Florida Courts have uniformly prohibited the down-zoning of property in anticipation of eminent domain proceedings. See e.g., Board of Commissioners of State Institutions v. Tallahassee Bank & Trust Company. 108 So.2d 74 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1958).

Other states have noted the inherent unfairness and ultimate illegality in government reserving or freezing the use of property for future government acquisition. In the case of Miller v. City of Beaver Falls, 82 A 2d, 34 (PA, 1951), the local government plotted privately owned property for future use as a park or playground and prohibited development thereon for a period of three (3) years: In holding the governmental activity unconstitutional, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court noted as follows:

The injustice to property owners of permitting a municipal body to tie up an owner's property for three years must be apparent to everyone. The city can change its mind and abandon or refuse to take property at the end of three years; but in the meantime the owner has been, to all intents and purposes, deprived of his property and its use and the land is practically unsalable . . .

The action of the City of Beaver Falls in plotting this ground for a park or playground

and freezing it for three years is in reality a taking of property by possibility, contingency, blockade, and subterfuge, in violation of the clear mandate of our constitution that property cannot be taken or injured or applied to public use without just compensation having been first made and secured.

The city is not without a remedy, but it cannot eat its cake and have its penny too. If it desires plaintiff's land for a park or playground which it considers desirable or necessary for its future progress, it can readily and lawfully obtain this land in accordance with the Constitution . . . All that is required is that just compensation be paid therefor. (emphasis in original) Miller v. City of Beaver Falls, 82 A2d 34 (Penn. 1951).

See also <u>Grosso v. Board of Adjustment</u>, 61 A2d 167, 169 (NJ 1948) in which the Supreme Court of New Jersey held that a municipality in exercising the police power may not dedicate a tract of land to highway uses on an "official map" and thereby depriving the owner of all use of the property without payment of compensation until the municipality was prepared to lay out the street. See also, Hager v. Louisville and Jefferson County Planning and Zoning Commission, 261 SW 2d 619 (KY Ct. App 1953) and Forster v. Scott, 32 NE 976 (NY 1893).

As will be discussed in Argument III, The United States Supreme Court decision of Agin's, supra, found that a zoning law effects a taking if the ordinance does not advance a legitimate state interest or denies an owner the economically viable use of his land. (Emphasis added). It is the first prong of the Agin's, supra test which is violated by Petitioner's Thoroughfare Map, i.e., the Thoroughfare Map fails to advance a legitimate state interest. This is the holding in Jt. Ventures, supra. This

takings analysis was confirmed by the United State Supreme Court in Nolan, supra, (1987) when it was noted (at page 3146):

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